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Pol Pot in Phnom Penh, December 1978. Photo by Richard Dudman. Courtesy of Sygma. Reprinted with permission. Copyright Sygma and Richard Dudman.





Chorus:

Who fights for communism must be able to fight and not to fight, to say the truth and not say the truth, to render and to deny service, to keep a promise and to break a promise, to go into danger and to avoid danger, to be known and to be unknown. Who fights for communism has of all the virtues only one: that he fights for communism.


Bertoldt Brecht, The Measures Taken
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Preface to the Second Edition

I am grateful to my editors at Westview Press, Rob Williams and Kristin Milavec, the project editor, for encouraging me to prepare a second edition of this book. In bringing the narrative up to date, closing with Pol Pot’s death in April 1998, I have invaded the text and the end notes to insert new data and to correct minor errors pointed out by correspondents and reviewers. In addition, I have updated the bibliographical essay at the end of the book. The text has also benefited enormously from Jennifer Swearingen’s helpful copyediting.

In the time between the appearance of the first edition and Pol Pot’s death six years later, some interesting new biographical data have emerged, thanks in large part to enterprising research conducted by David Ashley, Chhang Youk, Stephen Heder, and Nate Thayer. I am grateful to these four people for providing me with transcripts or summaries of their interviews, and to Thayer for sending me a copy of Nuon Chea’s draft history of the “struggle movement,” which he composed in 1997. My own study of the S-21 archive in 1994—1998 revealed some new information about the Vietnamese military base known as “Office 100,” where Pol Pot and his colleagues sought refuge from Sihanouk’s police in the early 1960s; my interviews with Lim Keuky and a former Chinese diplomat speaking on condition of anonymity provided some insights, respectively, into Pol Pot’s early married life and into his friendship with the notorious Chinese official K‘ang Sheng. My revision of the final chapter benefited from conversations with Terry McCarthy, Seth Mydans, and Nate Thayer. The new data have altered the chronological outlines of Pol Pot’s life by making it four years longer, as I now prefer the birthdate of 1925 to the 1928 one I had supported in the first edition.

Pol Pot wanted to be judged by history, as his interview with Nate Thayer in October 1997 makes clear. Unfortunately from his point of view, perhaps, the material that has emerged about his life since 1992 has not made his personality any more accessible or his career any easier to admire.

 




David Chandler 
Washington, D.C.
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CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

On April 17, 1975, Cambodia emerged from five years of invasion, bombardment, and civil war when its capital, Phnom Penh, fell to the guerrilla armies known as the Khmer Rouge or Red Khmer, which had been besieging it since the beginning of the year. The city’s population included over one million refugees, driven from their homes in rural areas. During the course of the civil war, perhaps as many as half a million Cambodians had been killed. People in the cities, without knowing much about the Red Khmer, presumed that peace would be better than war and that Cambodians, working together, could reconstruct their country.

What happened next took everyone but the Red Khmer commanders by surprise. Within a week, the people of Phnom Penh, Battambang, and other cities were driven into the countryside by the Red Khmer and told to take up agricultural tasks. Thousands of evacuees, especially the very young and the very old, died over the next few weeks. Some survivors, walking toward regions where they hoped their relatives would welcome them, were on the road for over a month. When they asked questions of the heavily armed young soldiers who accompanied them, they were told to obey the “revolutionary organization” (angkar padevat), which would act as their “mother and father.” The evacuees were called “new people” or “April 17 people” because they had joined the revolution so late. Residents of the countryside were known as “base people” and were treated less harshly than the others.

After emptying the cities, the revolutionary organization embarked on a program of social transformation that affected every aspect of Cambodian life. Money, markets, and private property were abolished. Schools, universities, and Buddhist monasteries were closed. No publishing was allowed; the postal system was shut down; freedom of movement, exchange of information, personal adornment, and leisure activities were curtailed. Punishments for infractions were severe, and repeat offenders were imprisoned under harsh conditions or killed. Everyone was ordered to perform tasks set  for them by the revolutionary organization. For evacuee city dwellers, these tasks seldom had any relation to their training or skills. Instead, nearly all of them became peasants and were made to wear identical black cotton clothing.

The movement’s leaders and their rationale remained concealed. To the outside world Cambodia was still ostensibly ruled by the United Front government, founded in Beijing in 1970 when Prince Norodom Sihanouk, Cambodia’s chief of state, had been overthrown in a bloodless coup while he was abroad, replaced by a government that sought an alliance with the United States. The prince had been the figurehead leader of the resistance in Beijing. By 1972 the Red Khmer controlled the resistance but for the sake of international respectability continued to operate behind the facade of Sihanouk’s coalition.

The charade continued for the remainder of 1975. In January 1976 the revolutionary organization dissolved the United Front, changed the name of the country to Democratic Kampuchea (DK), and promulgated a new constitution. The document praised collective values, identified the revolutionary organization with the people’s interests, and formalized the collectivization of Cambodian life. The words socialism or communism appeared nowhere in the text. Soon after, Radio Phnom Penh announced that elections would be held for a national assembly and broadcast the names of ministers in the new regime. The elections, it seemed, were primarily for overseas consumption. Most “new people” were not allowed to vote; “base people” voted for candidates provided by the organization.

Most of the winners were unknown outside the Red Khmer movement, although some of the new ministers, such as Ieng Sary, Khieu Samphan, and Hu Nim, were prominent leftists who had joined the resistance against Sihanouk in the 1960s. Others elected were identified sooner or later as veteran revolutionaries.

The prime minister, a “rubber plantation worker” called Pol Pot, was impossible to identify. At the moment he took power, just when he might have been expected to step into the open, he concealed himself behind a revolutionary name.

Who was he?

For over a year he revealed almost nothing about himself. When he made a state visit to China in September 1977 and was photographed there, Cambodia watchers identified Pol Pot as a fifty-two-year-old former schoolteacher named Saloth Sar, who had been secretary of the Central Committee of the clandestine Communist party of Kampuchea (CPK) since 1963. Pol Pot had announced the existence of the CPK for the first time in a triumphal speech recorded for Radio Phnom Penh just before he left for China. But very few Cambodians knew that Pol Pot was Saloth Sar. He admitted his former identity only after he was overthrown in 1979.

Mystery clung to him as news of what was happening in Cambodia between 1975 and 1978—the DK period—filtered into the outside world. Most of the news was horrible. Refugees spoke of forced labor, starvation, random executions, and the tyrannical, anonymous “organization.”

What did Pol Pot and his colleagues have in mind?

This handful of men and women presided over the purest and most thoroughgoing Marxist-Leninist movement in an era of revolutions. No other regime tried to go so quickly or so far. No other inflicted as many casualties on the country’s population.

At one level, the revolution was a courageous, doomed attempt by a group of utopian thinkers to break free from the capitalist world system, abandon the past, and rearrange the future. Many radicals in other countries interpreted events in Cambodia in this way. At another level, the revolution sprang from a colossal misreading of Cambodia’s political capacities, its freedom of maneuver vis-à-vis its neighbors, and the interests of the rural poor on whose behalf the revolution was ostensibly being waged. At a third level, Pol Pot and his colleagues displayed a thirst for power and an unlimited capacity for distrust. Believing himself surrounded by enemies, Pol Pot approved the torture and execution of almost fourteen thousand enemies (khmang) at the regime’s interrogation facility in Phnom Penh, known by the code name S-21. And thousands more died in the regional purges he set in motion in 1977. Most of those put to death at S-21 were loyal members of the party. Victims elsewhere seem, for the most part, to have been innocent of treason.

What were the sources of the revolution and its extraordinary violence? Between 1975 and 1979, those in power in Phnom Penh frequently declared that they followed no foreign models and that the Cambodian revolution was incomparable. In fact, many DK slogans—such as “storming attacks,” “leaps forward,” “independence-mastery,” and “three tons (of rice) per hectare”—came without acknowledgment from Communist China, where the regime, on the eve of Mao Zedong’s death in September 1976, was going through a peculiarly radical phase.

What the Cambodian leaders meant by independence, in large part, was that they were different from, and superior to, Vietnam, whose Communist movement had shaped and guided them for many years. Vietnamese guidance began to grate on Saloth Sar and his colleagues in the 1960s, when the Vietnamese treated them not as revolutionaries but as younger brothers in their all-absorbing war against the United States. Fighting between Cambodia and Vietnam erupted in 1977 and culminated two years later in a Vietnamese blitzkrieg that overthrew Pol Pot’s regime.

The mayhem that Democratic Kampuchea inflicted on its people led the French author Jean Lacouture to coin the word autogenocide—to differentiate events in Cambodia from previous pogroms, holocausts, purges, and vendettas.  Lacouture’s horror, if not the word he coined, was justified by the facts. In less than four years, more than one million Cambodians, or one in seven, probably died from malnutrition, overwork, and misdiagnosed or mistreated illness. At least one hundred thousand, and probably more, were executed for crimes against the state. Tens of thousands perished in the conflict with Vietnam, almost certainly started by the Red Khmer. But was what happened autogenocide, without forerunners elsewhere? Clear parallels, and probably inspirations, can be found in China’s Great Leap Forward in the 1950s, in the Soviet collectivization of Ukraine twenty years before that, and in purges in both countries of “elements” considered dangerous to revolutionary leaders. In a sense, what happened in Cambodia, although more intense, was standard operating procedure in countries whose politics Pol Pot—or “Brother Number One,” as he was informally known to subordinates—admired.

The catastrophe of Democratic Kampuchea and its effects encourage an examination of Pol Pot’s political career to see what connections can be drawn between the man and what happened in Cambodia between 1975 and 1979, as well as before and since. The outline of his life has been known since the early 1980s, thanks to the path-breaking work of Australian scholar Ben Kiernan and several others. Recently, new sources have come to light that have made possible a longer, more detailed view of Pol Pot’s career than Kiernan reached in his book, which dealt primarily with the period before 1975.1


Much of what has been written about Pol Pot since his time in power has been reckless and intemperate. This is not surprising in view of the impact of the revolution; but calling him a “moon-faced monster,” a “genocidal maniac,” or “worse than Hitler” (phrases picked from journalists’ reports) has no explanatory power. To understand the man and what happened in Democratic Kampuchea, we need to place him inside a Cambodian context and inside a wider set of influences from abroad.

During my research, I talked with several people who had been to school with Saloth Sar in the 1940s, who had known him in Paris or who had known him as a schoolteacher in Phnom Penh. Those who encountered him during his years in power were more discreet with anecdotal evidence, but from all these sources, as well as printed and archival material, I was able to build a consistent, but rather two-dimensional, picture. This has been enhanced, but not deepened, by interviews conducted by others since 1992.2


None of the people I spoke to—including several who live thousands of miles from Cambodia and whose families were savaged by the Pol Pot regime—were prepared to associate the person they had known with the horrors of the 1970s. Victims of Pol Pot’s regime, they were unwilling to alter or deny their relatively pleasant recollections of the man.

To his brother and sister-in-law, for example, Saloth Sar was a sweet-tempered, equable child. Schoolmates remembered him as a mediocre student  but pleasant company, a reputation that persisted among those who knew him in France. As a teacher, he was remembered as calm, self-assured, smooth featured (s‘aat s’om), honest, and persuasive, even hypnotic when speaking to small groups. Among his students and his colleagues in the clandestine Communist movement, he seems in these years to have gained some of the moral authority and stature he enjoyed among his followers up to 1997. A man who met him in the late 1950s, for example, said, “I saw immediately that I could become his friend for life.” Similar testimony has emerged in confessions from S-21 and in the 1980s and 1990s from Red Khmer defectors who attended Pol Pot’s political seminars in Thailand and Cambodia. None of the defectors, although they were free to do so (as those being tortured at S-21 were not), singled out Pol Pot’s behavior or personality as a reason for betraying the party or, in the 1980s, for deserting the Communist movement. Instead, most of them came away with memories of a man they regarded almost as a saint.

With witnesses like these, and Pol Pot’s own writings, it has been impossible for me to penetrate what may be a facade, a series of masks, or a chosen repertoire of skills to discover a rougher, more diabolical, supposedly more genuine Pol Pot. Throughout his life, the man seems to have tailored his performance to fit the people he was with, making a “genocidal maniac” hard to find. Indeed, the disjunction between his genteel charisma and the death toll of his regime is one of the mysteries that hangs over his career and poses serious difficulties in trying to make sense of his life.

The concealment or absence of conflict in Pol Pot’s personal life has also made it difficult to reach sweeping or persuasive psychological conclusions about him. Was he only apparently a happy child and an inspiring teacher? Was his kindly manner faked? Was he a cynical political animal, a true believer, or a mélange of both? Was he a paranoid nourished by a sense of betrayal or persecution, or a utopian who saw his vision wrecked by others? Is there a difference? His own writings and speeches, which avoid personal details, provide little information to help us answer any of these questions. Even after his two-hour interview with Nate Thayer in 1997, less than a year before he died, Pol Pot defies analysis.3


Pol Pot’s lifetime overlaps the story of Cambodian politics since World War II. His revolutionary movement benefited from Vietnamese help during its formative years and during Vietnam’s war with the United States. Without the war, Pol Pot’s coming to power, like Sihanouk’s demise, is inconceivable.4


Saloth Sar/Pol Pot was also a product of twentieth-century Cambodian society. From that society, he fought against, and ironically benefited from, a deeply rooted sense of hierarchy that frequently permitted a single man, properly positioned, nicely behaved, and thought to be meritorious, to exercise enormous power. Like most Khmer of his generation, he was incurious about the outside world. He distrusted foreigners and their intentions toward  his country. From Cambodian Buddhism, he absorbed the ideas of disciplined personal transformation, rebirth, and enlightenment—found within the privileged, otherworldly communities of monks or Communists—through teaching, “right action,” self-denial, and meditation. As a teacher, he automatically enjoyed high status—another legacy of Buddhism.5


Although Pol Pot was introspective and xenophobic, his ideas and his career were shaped to a large extent by foreign influences. France, as a colonial power, provided him with seventeen years of formal education and the only foreign language he is known to have spoken. This education introduced him to the idea of progress and the concepts of democracy, imperialism, and revolutionary change. His three years in Paris, where he encountered Marxist-Leninist ideas, led him to adopt a radical alignment—he probably joined the Communist party of France (CPF) in 1952.

When Saloth Sar returned to Cambodia in early 1953, he became a member of the Vietnamese-dominated Indochina Communist party (ICP). For several years he worked from concealment to accomplish its objectives. From his Vietnamese-trained mentors, he learned about party discipline, organization, and theory, as well as the importance of clandestinity and concealment. The Vietnamese, for their part, seem to have assumed that he was loyal to them.

The most important foreign influence on Pol Pot was probably Communist China, which he first visited in 1965-1966. From Mao Zedong’s notions of autonomous revolution, voluntarism, and continuous class struggle, Pol Pot drew an inspiring ideology that freed him from what he considered to be the domination of the Vietnamese and that provided a model for Cambodia’s transformation. From the high-ranking Chinese official K‘ang Sheng, who befriended him in 1965, Pol Pot absorbed the importance of rooting out concealed enemies of the party. The timing of his conversion to a Maoist vision of the world was important. He visited China on the eve of the Cultural Revolution—in other words, before it had turned out to be a disaster—and he came to power in 1975, shortly before Mao’s death, during another radical phase of Chinese politics.

These foreign influences and conjunctions are important in understanding Pol Pot’s political career, but after taking them into account there is still something elusive about him that makes a biographical inquiry unsatisfactory and incomplete. Often in my research I have had the uneasy feeling that Saloth Sar/Pol Pot was just outside my line of vision observing me—an impression confirmed in 1997 when, talking to Nate Thayer, he spoke agreeably about the first edition of this book, while taking issue with some of my phrasing. This elusiveness has been frustrating to me as his biographer but also indicates the kind of impression that this instrument of history—as Pol Pot might call himself—always preferred to leave, or to fail to leave, while proceeding in secret with incandescent revolutionary tasks.
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CHAPTER TWO


“Original Khmer,” 1928—1949





Who Was Pol Pot? 

The man known to the world as Pol Pot started life with the name Saloth Sar. Pol Pot was his revolutionary name. When he announced his pseudonym in 1976, he followed precedents set by several Communist leaders, including Lenin, Stalin, Tito, and Ho Chi Minh. Their intentions, when in the underground, were to conceal their true identities from the police and in some cases to inspire their followers (“Stalin,” for example, means “steel”; “Ho Chi Minh” means “the enlightened one”). Pol Pot, however, took a new name after he had come to power, concealing his former identity from the nation he was about to govern. The name he chose, although common enough among rural Cambodians (the Khmer), had no independent meaning.

In making this bizarre, self-effacing gesture, Saloth Sar/Pol Pot was behaving true to form. Beginning in the 1950s, he preferred working in secret to living in the open. When Pol Pot came to power in 1976, it took analysts more than a year to identify him with certainty as a former schoolteacher named Saloth Sar who had been the secretary of the Cambodian Communist party since 1963. Pol Pot admitted his original name offhandedly to an interviewer in 1979, several months after he had been driven from power.

Over the years this extraordinarily reclusive figure concealed, clouded, and falsified so many details about his life that it is not surprising that there is even some confusion about his date of birth. North Korean radio announced in 1977 (before Pol Pot had been identified as Saloth Sar) that he had been born in 1925. French colonial records prepared in Cambodia in the 1950s, however, state that he was born on May 25, 1928. The second date, which leaves less time unaccounted for, seemed more plausible than the earlier one to many writers but has been contradicted by Saloth Sar’s siblings in recent interviews. Pol Pot himself insisted on the earlier date in his interview with  Nate Thayer in 1997. For these reasons, 1925 is now the preferred year of birth.1


Saloth Sar’s parents were ethnic Khmer. He was born in the village of Prek Sbauv, less than two miles west of the provincial capital of Kompong Thom, some ninety miles north of Phnom Penh. His father, Pen Saloth, was a prosperous farmer with nine hectares of rice land, several draft cattle, and a comfortable tile-roofed house. Saloth Sar’s mother, Sok Nem, was widely respected in the district for her piety and good works. Sar was the eighth of nine children, two of whom were girls. Five of the nine survived into the 1990s.2





Palace Connections 

What set the family apart from others in the region were its connections with the Royal Palace in Phnom Penh. Saloth Sar’s cousin Meak joined the royal ballet in the 1920s in the closing years of the reign of King Sisowath (r. 1904-1927). She soon became a consort of the king’s eldest son, Prince Sisowath Monivong, and bore him a son, Kossarak, shortly before Monivong became king in 1927. She held the favored position of khun preab me neang—literally, “lady in charge of the women”—from which she controlled the women of the palace. The post was abolished after Monivong’s death, but Meak continued to live near the Royal Palace and was attached to the corps de ballet as a senior teacher until the early 1970s.

Saloth Sar’s family enjoyed other royal connections. In the late 1920s, Sar’s older brother Loth Suong went to Phnom Penh to work at the palace as a clerk. Soon after, their sister Saloth Roeung (nicknamed Saroeun) joined the ballet and at some point in the 1930s became a consort of King Monivong. Suong worked in the palace as a clerk until 1975 and in the early 1940s married a dancer, Chea Samy. Saroeun, a favorite consort of the king, returned to Kompong Thom after Monivong’s death in 1941 and eventually married a local policeman.3


In 1934 or 1935, when Saloth Sar was nine years old, he and his older brother Chhay were sent by their parents to live with Meak and Suong in Phnom Penh. Sar probably would have preferred the relatively carefree life of Prek Sbauv to the more demanding one of being raised by busy relatives in a strange city. Informal adoptions by prosperous relatives are a traditional feature of Cambodian life and therefore should not be taken as indicating estrangement between children and their natural parents. In fact, although Sar’s brother and sister-in-law have insisted that Sar got along well with his parents, he is not known to have mentioned them in conversations with other people. This silence, however, may be related to a conscious effacement of personal information rather than to animosity. There is no evidence that he had conflicts with his father of the sort that characterized the adolescent  years of Stalin, Mao Zedong, and other prominent political figures. Indeed, his sister told an interviewer in 1997 that Saloth Sar had come back to Prek Sbauv for his father’s funeral in the late 1950s and contributed to the cost of erecting a memorial stupa. In later life, Sar never mentioned his palace connections. Instead, he tended to emphasize his rural origins.

Soon after arriving in the capital, Saloth Sar spent several months as a novice at Vat Botum Vaddei, a Buddhist monastery near the palace that was favored by the royal family. At such a young age and recently separated from his parents, Sar must have been traumatized by the solemn discipline of the monastery, even though there would have been other little boys with shaven heads wearing yellow robes with him. At the Vat Botum Vaddei he learned the rudiments of Buddhism and became literate in Khmer. Sar was also forced to be obedient. Ironically, for someone who embraced atheism and xenophobia so fervently in later life, this brief period was the only time in his formal education (which lasted until 1952) in which Khmer rather than French was the language of instruction.4


Loth Suong and Chea Samy, who looked after Saloth Sar in the 1940s, maintained that he was an even-tempered, polite, unremarkable child. As a primary student, Samy told the Australian journalist James Gerrand, Sar “had no difficulties with other students, no fights or quarrels.” In examining his early years, I found no traumatic events and heard no anecdotes that foreshadow his years in power. People who met him as an adult found his self-effacing personality, perhaps a carryover from the image he projected as a child, hard to connect with his fearsome behavior in the 1970s. In Loth Suong’s words, “The contemptible Pot [Khmer a-Pot] was a lovely child.”5





Phnom Penh in the 1930s 

When Sar was growing up in the 1930s, Phnom Penh was a sleepy, sundrenched town that had been established as the capital of a French protectorate in 1866. As far as Europe and America were concerned, Phnom Penh was at the back of the world. The city had the form of a rectangle, running north-south along the western bank of the Tonle Sap River, which flowed into the much larger Mekong River at that point. Many public buildings, such as the post office, the library, and the railroad station, were reminiscent of their counterparts in provincial France. So were the tree-lined avenues radiating from the public gardens to the north and the shaded promenades along the river. In 1936, roughly half of its population of 100,000 were immigrant Chinese and Vietnamese, who dominated the commercial sector. Its 45,000 Cambodians lived around the palace, as monks in the monasteries or as bureaucrats, farmers, artisans, and petty traders in the southern and western sectors of the city. There, the Cambodians’ bamboo and wooden houses—raised on stilts and surrounded by mango and banana trees, with domestic  animals roaming underneath—were indistinguishable from rural dwellings. In those days, most Cambodians chose or drifted into careers in government, farming, or religion, leaving commercial affairs to the Chinese and Vietnamese. Vietnamese immigration into Cambodia was encouraged by the French, who found them more “vigorous” and better educated (in French) than the Khmer and welcomed them into the middle ranks of the colonial civil service.6


The center of Phnom Penh contained a bustling commercial quarter of Chinese shops, warehouses, eating stalls, and markets. To the west, parallel to the river, ran shaded streets and boulevards lined with the stucco-covered villas of French civil servants, Chinese businessmen, and the French-educated Cambodian elite. At the northern edge of the city, the small hill (phnom) that gave the city its name was crowned by a seventeenth-century monastery and several Buddhist reliquaries (chedi). The area had been landscaped by the French into a 25-acre park, with a small zoo, a floral clock, some statuary, a bandstand, and several outdoor cafés.7


Roughly half a mile south of the phnom, facing the river, was the Royal Palace, whose main buildings had been designed by French architects in a Thai-Cambodian style in the early 1900s. Set back from the foreshore behind manicured lawns, the white and cream buildings, with their green-andorange-tiled roofs glittering in the sun, resembled the Buddhist temples scattered throughout the city and gave passersby a glimpse of a resplendent, ethereal world.

That world came to life whenever the corps de ballet performed for the king and his guests, enacting scenes and stories taken from Indian mythology at a painstakingly slow pace to the music of xylophones, flutes, and Indian-style stringed instruments. Most of the more than three hundred dancers had been recruited into the troupe before they were ten years old; the leading dancers were in their twenties. Some performances were keyed to the Buddhist calendar or to brahmanical ceremonies peculiar to the palace. Others were in honor of important visitors to Phnom Penh. The performances, which lasted for several hours, occurred at night when it was cooler. They depicted a goldencrusted world of princes and princesses, hermits, demons, and magical beasts. Like the puppet theater in Java, which was also based on classical Hindu stories, the dances had strong religious overtones. Through them, the dancers gained access to the supernatural forces that affected people’s lives and were thought to govern the agricultural year.8


It is easy to imagine Saloth Sar in the 1930s huddled at the edge of the stage watching the masked and powdered dancers, trained by his cousin and perhaps including his sister and his brother’s wife, perform by the light of hundreds of candles (and the moon). Each dance involved thousands of movements, each keyed to moments in a particular story and to the mythological character being portrayed. None of the gestures was improvised. Al-though  some dancers might be more beautiful or more graceful than others, their movements depended on memory, tradition, and practice—in other words, on what they had been taught—rather than on what the individual wanted to express. The dancers were vehicles for tradition rather than its interpreters. Effacing one’s creativity by memorizing what the teacher imparts is an integral part of traditional Hindu and Buddhist teaching for vocations as diverse as dancing and monastic life. It also characterizes the painstaking way in which Pol Pot trained his subordinates in the Cambodian Communist party. Pol Pot’s modesty as well as his teaching earned his students’ admiration. Perhaps this tradition of self-concealment, combined with the costume donning and role playing and the empowerment that came from performing, helped Saloth Sar to shape his public persona—he was perceived by many throughout his career as “clean and smooth,” almost as if he were a dancer hiding behind a mask.
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Chan Chhaya Pavilion, Royal Palace, Phnom Penh. Photo by Bruce Sharp. Copyright 1991 Bruce Sharp.

The world of the dancers had a less glamorous side. During King Monivong’s time, the women lived in an insalubrious warren of huts and cabins inside the royal compound. They passed their time gossiping and scheming, having their fortunes told and playing cards, telling off-color stories and waiting for preferment—frittering away their youth. Some had their children with them, but no nonroyal boys over twelve were allowed to live inside the palace compound. For a few dancers, like Meak, a career in the ballet led to royal patronage, prestige, and financial independence. For those who failed to catch the king’s attention, it was an impoverished, unhealthy, dull existence.  A dancer’s life involved total dedication for limited rewards—a hermetic way of living that resembled the life of a Communist militant adopted by Saloth Sar after he came back to Cambodia from France in 1953.9


It is impossible to say which impressions of the palace prevailed among Saloth Sar’s memories once he came to power. In the DK period, his policies seemed to reflect a deep resentment at the injustice and exploitation that many Cambodians endured daily. He may have been thinking about the dancers or about the peasants he encountered later on. He may have been thinking of his own uprooted childhood in a potentially hostile city. In any case, he appears to have had no use for the ballet as a cultural institution, perceiving it as a corrupt, counterrevolutionary element of Cambodian life—like money, rank, and property. The corps de ballet was disbanded when the Communists came to power.




The Weight of the Past 

To the west of the palace not far from Meak’s house was the museum of Khmer archaeology, built in Cambodian architectural style and opened in 1920. Here the French had assembled examples of sculpture, pottery, and bronzeware gathered from hundreds of ruined Hindu and Buddhist temples built in what became “Cambodia” between the seventh and sixteenth centuries A.D. This ancient civilization, “rediscovered” by the French, had culminated in the Angkorean empire, which flourished in northwestern Cambodia between the early ninth century A.D. and 1400. For a time, this empire dominated much of what are now southern Laos, eastern Thailand, Cambodia, and southern Vietnam. Near Angkor, the French uncovered impressive waterways and the remains of several hundred Hindu and Buddhist temples. In its heyday, around 1200, the Angkorean region, covering 100 square miles or so, sheltered more people than all of Cambodia did in the 1930s. The twelfth-century temple Angkor Wat, built to honor a Cambodian king, is the world’s largest surviving religious building.

When the French naturalist Henri Mouhot was shown some of these ruins by his Cambodian hosts in 1860, he started a love affair between French scholars and Cambodia’s medieval past that has lasted to this day. Starting in the 1870s soon after their protectorate had been established, French savants deciphered over one thousand ancient Khmer and Sanskrit inscriptions, named Cambodia’s kings, and placed them inside a precise chronology. Although Angkor Wat had been a Buddhist sanctuary for several hundred years, many Cambodians believed that the temples had been built by supernatural creatures rather than by earlier Khmer.

French scholarship gave the Cambodians a prestigious history that as a colonized people they were not prepared to handle. The French stressed the contrast between the glories of the Angkorean empire and what they perceived  as its decline in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, between Angkorean mastery and the protectorate’s dependence, between the grandeur of Angkor’s kings and the impotence of those like Monivong who were selected by the French to govern colonial Cambodia. These contradictions produced a crisis of identity among educated Khmer in the 1930s and 1940s that acted as a catalyst for Cambodian nationalism. Sovereignty was a major theme in Red Khmer ideology, as it had been for previous regimes. It was thought that because the people who had built Angkor were Khmer, their descendants had extraordinary talents. “If our people were capable of building Angkor,” Pol Pot said in 1977, “we can do anything.” Since the 1940s, an image of Angkor Wat has appeared on nearly all Cambodian flags.10


In his youth Saloth Sar would certainly have been aware of Cambodia’s past grandeur and French ideas about it. He would have wandered through the museum more than once. Although he probably did not visit the ruins, he would have known the figures and scenes carved on the temple walls from the gestures and costumes of the royal dancers. The Indian myths the dancers reenacted, such as the Ramayana and Mahabharata, had been recited and performed since Angkorean times. As he grew up, Sar may also have noticed the gap between the grandeur of Angkor Wat (and these legends, for that matter) and the shabby, crowded quarters of the royal dancers, between the “godkings” of the Angkorean empire and the middle-aged monarch of the 1930s who often dressed in a French military uniform and who reigned over only a few acres of palace compound.

Phnom Penh was founded in the sixteenth century after the abandonment of Angkor. It flourished as an entrepôt until the late eighteenth century when unrest in Vietnam, dynastic disarray in Cambodia, and Thai invasions ravaged the kingdom. By then, the city had been cut off from the sea and was dependent on Vietnam for trading privileges. The first half of the nineteenth century was chaotic. In the 1840s Cambodia almost disappeared as Thai administrators took charge of much of the country west of the Mekong and the Vietnamese controlled the Cambodian royal family, the capital region, and the eastern part of the country. An uneasy peace concluded between the Thai and the Vietnamese in 1848 left most of Cambodia a Thai protectorate.11


The French established themselves in Cambodia in 1863, and during the colonial era, Cambodia’s economy was integrated with that of France’s new colony in southern Vietnam, Cochinchina. Cambodian exports of rice, corn, dried fish, timber, and other products were handled by Chinese and Vietnamese entrepreneurs in Saigon and its sister city of Cholon, while the rubber plantations established in eastern Cambodia in the 1920s were under French control. Inside Cambodia, Chinese petty traders purchased agricultural products, particularly rice, from Khmer farmers. Chinese entrepreneurs milled the rice and sent it to overseas markets. Profits from these transactions flowed to the Chinese and Sino-Khmer entrepreneurs in Phnom Penh and in  provincial towns and then to the French, Chinese, and Sino-Vietnamese export houses in Phnom Penh and Saigon. The French administration levied export taxes on the crops and other taxes on the peasants, whose labor subsidized not only the palace (as it had always done) but also the colonial regime (which was staffed to a large extent by Vietnamese). Years later, spokesmen for Democratic Kampuchea compared Cambodia’s tiny capitalist class to the colonial rulers who had “lived off the backs” of Cambodia’s rural population.

In the 1870s, as these chains of economic dependency were being forged, the French left the trappings of sovereignty in the hands of Monivong’s uncle King Norodom (r. 1860-1904) and his advisers. In exchange for commercial privileges, the French took charge of the country’s foreign affairs, finances, and defense. In the 1880s, after an uprising against their rule, the French became more systematic in their control, and royal power was reduced. Taxes were imposed to recoup the costs of the protectorate; French residents were placed alongside Khmer governors in the provinces and superseded them; the king was given a fixed allowance and lost his power to choose and dismiss officials. In this system that paralleled the princely states of India or the regencies in the Netherlands East Indies, the king retained some prestige and some symbolic value but abdicated political control.12


When King Norodom died in 1904 he was succeeded by his brother Sisowath, who had cooperated with France in suppressing the Khmer rebellion in the 1880s. By then sovereignty had shifted into French hands. Sisowath was content to be a puppet ruler. He received a cash allowance from the French, who also provided him with high-grade opium to smoke. As “chiefs of state,” Sisowath and his son Monivong were patrons of Cambodian Buddhism, acted as hosts for important foreign visitors, and arranged performances of the royal ballet. Although the special vocabulary used to address the king stressed his almost supernatural power, both monarchs enjoyed less freedom than their advisers and had much less power than the French. Monivong resented these conditions but could do nothing to break free. He took refuge when he could in writing poetry, visiting his model farm, and enjoying the company of his entourage.

Cambodians attached to the palace in the 1930s and 1940s, like Saloth Sar and his relations, were insulated from the Chinese and Sino-Khmer commercial sector of Phnom Penh, from the worldwide economic depression, and from the need to grow their own food. Saloth Sar inhabited this elaborate, safe, entirely Cambodian world for many years. He does not seem to have complained about it, and it would be misleading to suggest that boyhood experiences or discomfort with privilege gave birth to his radical ideas. The time he spent in and around the palace may have intensified his sense of being a Khmer, unattached to the Chinese and Vietnamese who made the protectorate a commercial success. He probably absorbed or overheard anti-French sentiments that were widespread among Cambodian officials. These  attitudes may have been sharpened by his encountering more French, Chinese, and Vietnamese than he would ever have met in Prek Sbauv. More important, his affectionate family, orderly domestic life, and insulation from poverty may have helped to produce a deceptively smooth psychological surface and an equanimity that impressed observers for the rest of his career.

While Saloth Sar was growing up, few political events occurred in Cambodia. Active resistance to French rule was nonexistent after the 1880s. In the countryside, where nearly all Cambodia’s three million people lived, men and women were less concerned with colonial injustice than with raising their families, patronizing the local Buddhist wat, and growing the food they needed to survive. For these Cambodians, the capital and the king were far away. They accepted kingship as a fact of life, like the seasons or exploitation (the Cambodian verb “to exploit,” chi-cho‘an, means literally “to ride and trample”). Some French observers mistook Cambodian acquiescence for affection and Cambodian good manners for respect. Others were more cautious and pointed to undercurrents of violence in Cambodian psychology and rural life, where banditry was widespread and robberies were often accompanied by rape, arson, and murder. By and large, however, Cambodia was a peaceable backwater and a success story for the French, whose rule produced the economic results they desired at a low political cost.

For rural Khmer, the early 1930s were a difficult time. Economic hardship may have prompted Saloth Sar’s father to send two of his young children to Phnom Penh. The world price for Cambodian products fell while French taxes—on a per capita basis the highest in Indochina—remained more or less the same. In some parts of the country, undernourishment and underemployment became severe, but no Cambodians complained openly or took up arms.

In Vietnam, on the other hand, economic difficulties and a tradition of resistance to foreign rule had led in 1930-1931 to scattered assassinations of French officials and to several uprisings that were brutally suppressed. One of these, in central Vietnam, involved tens of thousands of peasants. It was instigated by the recently founded Indochina Communist party (ICP). The party had only a handful of Cambodian members before World War II, and although the French watched for evidence of what they called the “virus” of socialism in their Indochinese possessions, Cambodia seemed immune.




The Stirrings of Nationalism 

In the late 1930s, when a more tolerant government held power in France, Cambodia felt the first stirrings of what Benedict Anderson referred to as the sense of “imagined community” that characterizes nationalist movements. Anderson argued that this development is nearly always related to the growth of print media and to amplified education emphasizing a community’s individuality,  expressed in part by representations of its past. His argument holds true in the Cambodian case.13


As Saloth Sar was beginning his primary education, three young Cambodians affiliated with the Buddhist Institute in Phnom Penh received permission from the French to publish a Khmer-language newspaper, Nagara Vatta (“Angkor Wat”), the first of its kind in Cambodian history. Two of these men, Son Ngoc Thanh and Sim Var, played prominent roles in Cambodian politics later on. The third, Pach Chhoeun, held ministerial posts in the 1940s and 1950s. Nagara Vatta reported the activities of Cambodia’s elite, reprinted the texts of regulations and decrees, and in editorials urged Cambodians to “awake” and catch up with the Chinese and Vietnamese who dominated commercial life. The paper had a circulation of over five thousand copies. Its weekly readership—particularly among Buddhist monks, who passed copies from hand to hand—was probably much higher.

The French founded the Buddhist Institute in 1930 in an attempt to isolate Cambodian Buddhists from potentially disruptive influences from Thailand. In exchange, the institute exposed intellectuals in Phnom Penh to some of the political currents affecting monks in the Khmer minority in southern Vietnam. The institute acted as a clearinghouse and repository for Cambodian religious and literary texts and as a meeting place for Buddhist intellectuals (most of them monks or former monks). It also coordinated the higher phases of monastic education. The institute’s journal, Kambuja Surya (“Cambodian Sun”), published poems, novels, proverbs, chronicles, folktales, and religious texts.14


When Nagara Vatta was founded, its editors sought royal patronage for it, but they were rebuffed by Monivong’s eldest son, Prince Sisowath Monireth, who told them brusquely that in his opinion education was a waste of time, because better-educated Khmer would be “difficult to govern.” The editors then turned to Monireth’s brother-in-law Prince Norodom Suramarit, who agreed to act as a patron for the paper. He remained a close friend of Thanh, Var, and Chhoeun for many years, especially after his son, Norodom Sihanouk, became king in 1941.

The Buddhist Institute was only a few hundred yards from the palace, and Meak, Samy, and Suong probably knew the editors of Nagara Vatta by sight, subscribed to the paper, and approved its mildly nationalistic stance. Other readers were concentrated in the Buddhist sangha (“monastic order”) and among graduates of Cambodia’s only high school, the Lycée Sisowath in Phnom Penh. Students at the lycée in the late 1930s included several future prime ministers of Cambodia and an earnest young woman eight years older than Saloth Sar, Khieu Ponnary, the first Cambodian woman to earn a baccalaureate. She and Saloth Sar were married in 1956.15


Between 1936 and 1942—coincidentally the lifespan of Nagara Vatta—Saloth Sar attended a Catholic primary school near the palace, the Ecole  Miche. The fees were paid by Meak. Most of his classmates were the children of French bureaucrats or Catholic Vietnamese. One of them, brought up near the palace, remembered Sar as “very charming, like his [adopted] mother.” No anecdotes about him have survived from this period when he became literate in French, grew familiar with Christian doctrine, and received the rudiments of a classical education. During his final years at the school, however, several events occurred that altered the course of Cambodian history and affected Saloth Sar’s career.

The first of these was the Franco-Thai war of 1940-1941, which followed the fall of France to the German army and led to the annexation by the Thai of the northwestern Cambodian provinces of Battambang and Siem Reap. The loss of so much Cambodian territory infuriated King Monivong, who retired to his model farm in Kompong Chhnang. He soon became seriously ill and refused to speak French for the remaining months of his life. Saloth Sar’s younger sister, Saroeun, was at the king’s bedside when he died at the hill resort of Bokor in April 1941, just as the Japanese, eager to expand southward into Southeast Asia were increasing their military pressure on the French in Indochina.

It was in this intimidating atmosphere, isolated from news from home, that the governor general of French Indochina, Admiral Jean Decoux, in choosing Monivong’s successor, bypassed Prince Monireth and plucked the late king’s nineteen-year-old grandson, Norodom Sihanouk, from his lycée studies in Saigon to install him on the Cambodian throne.16





Moving to Kompong Cham 

For several years, the young king was a pliable instrument of French colonial policy. The French were anxious to enhance the prestige of traditional rulers in Indochina without increasing the king’s political power. As part of this campaign, they decided to establish a junior high school (collège) in Cambodia’s third largest city, Kompong Cham, and name it after the king. The new school replaced a college in Battambang, which was being administered by the Thai. Battambang was Cambodia’s second largest city and its most prosperous province, but Kompong Cham came close behind. In the 1920s the French had established rubber plantations in the province, and farmers had set up profitable market gardens and silkworm hatcheries along the Mekong. Small industries in the region produced silk, tobacco, lumber, and cotton textiles. With its vigorous economy dominated by the Cham, Vietnamese and Chinese minorities, Kompong Cham was also the most cosmopolitan province in the kingdom.

Twenty boys from various Cambodian provinces were selected as the first class to attend the College Norodom Sihanouk in 1942. All of them were to be boarders. Saloth Sar was chosen as part of the contingent from Kompong  Thom. Unfortunately, the date of his move to Kompong Cham is unknown, so it is impossible to say if he saw the anti-French demonstration in Phnom Penh on July 20, 1942, a demonstration that was quickly absorbed into Cambodian nationalist mythology. It was the most important political event in Cambodia in the early 1940s and the first mass outburst against the French in over twenty years.

In September 1941, just before Sihanouk’s coronation, Admiral Decoux agreed to permit Japanese troops to station themselves in Indochina; in exchange, Japan would allow France to retain administrative control. Encouraged by Japan’s triumphant occupation of most of Southeast Asia in the first four months of 1942, and perhaps supported psychologically and financially by Japan’s secret police, some Cambodians saw the situation as an opportunity to put pressure on the French for political concessions. In July 1942, two Cambodian monks were arrested by the French for preaching anti-French sermons to the local militia. In their haste to bring the monks to justice, the French failed to have them removed from the sangha, and this sacrilege infuriated Buddhists in Phnom Penh. On July 20, Son Ngoc Thanh and Pach Chhoeun organized a demonstration that involved more than five hundred monks and perhaps as many civilians. Led by Chhoeun, the group marched on the office of the French chief administrator (resident supérieur). Thousands—including the French police—watched from the sidewalks of the city’s major boulevard. The Japanese, to Thanh’s chagrin, gave the demonstrators no support. When Chhoeun presented a petition to the French authorities, he was arrested and bundled off to prison. Over the next few days, a handful of his colleagues were rounded up. Thanh went into hiding and soon escaped to Battambang, where he petitioned the Japanese emperor to be allowed to live in Japan. Permission arrived several months later, and Thanh spent the last two years of the war living in Tokyo under an assumed name.

Whether he had watched the demonstration or not, Saloth Sar would have heard about it from contemporaries and relatives, although politics did not yet preoccupy him or his fellow students. The boys were excited by their new school and formed a tightly knit group. All the classes were conducted in French, and students were discouraged from speaking Khmer among themselves. They studied literature, history, geography, mathematics, science, and philosophy, played soccer and basketball, learned to play musical instruments (Saloth Sar’s was the violin), and staged plays. One graduate recalled a production of Molière’s Le Bourgeois Gentilhomme starring a student named Hu Nim who later joined the Communist party and became minister of information in Democratic Kampuchea. In the class below Saloth Sar, the eldest son of a Kompong Cham judge, Khieu Samphan, was singled out by his contemporaries as intelligent, ambitious, and aloof. After studies in France, where he became a Communist, Samphan became Democratic Kampuchea’s ceremonial chief of state. In 1977 he took on the job of supervising the work of the  Communist party’s Central Committee. By then he had served the Communist movement faithfully for twenty years. Others who attended the school with Saloth Sar and later became Communists were Hou Youn and Khieu Komar.17


The students’ favorite teacher in those years was Khvan Siphan, who arrived in 1945 to teach them mathematics, physics, and philosophy. Several former graduates remembered Siphan, then in his twenties, as “honest and inspiring” and singled him out because of his teaching skills, his fondness for the students, and his fair dealings. “He was honest, loving, and helpful,” one of them recalled. These traits contrasted sharply with the autocratic demeanor of the French teachers at the school, whose names the graduates failed to mention. In view of Saloth Sar’s later success as a teacher and his reputation for fairness, it is tempting to see Khvan Siphan as the first of several role models he chose to emulate.18


These young men must have observed the gap between the grandeurs of French history as communicated at school and the beleaguered position of the French themselves in the early 1940s. As the students learned about France’s “civilizing mission” (mission civilisatrece), they knew that France was occupied by Germany, that Battambang and Siem Reap had been taken over by Thailand, and that Japanese troops were stationed in Kompong Cham. The once omnipotent French were almost powerless.

Saloth Sar is remembered by contemporaries in Kompong Cham as a mediocre student. “His manner was straightforward, pleasant, and very polite,” one of them said. Another recalled that Sar “thought a lot, but said very little,” while a third noted that he spent much of his spare time playing basketball and soccer: “He was a pretty good player, but not outstanding.” Saloth Sar seemed to have had no clear ambitions. He was content to drift along, enjoying his companions without making a strong impression on them, secure in the knowledge that he was among friends and would always be welcome in Phnom Penh and Prek Sbauv.

Ironically, in view of the paths they followed later, Saloth Sar’s closest friend at the school was Lon Non, an official’s son from Kompong Cham. Lon Non’s oldest brother, Lon Nol, became president of the Khmer Republic in 1970, leading his country to defeat at the hands of the Cambodian Communists, led by Sar, and the Vietnamese Communists. There is no evidence that the friendship with Lon Non survived Sar’s politicization in the 1950s. Under the republic, Non was a political troubleshooter for his intellectually limited brother. As defeat loomed in 1975, Lon Non, by then a general, hoped to capitalize on his friendships with the Communists who had gone to school with him in Kompong Cham. He lingered in Phnom Penh after it was captured, certain that these old friends would remember him and that he could reach an arrangement with them. He was executed within forty-eight hours.19


In late 1944 the war in the Pacific reached a crescendo, and the students in Kompong Cham experienced some of its effects. Phnom Penh was bombed by Allied aircraft in February 1945, and American bombing of coastal shipping isolated southern Vietnam from the less prosperous north where severe famines killed tens of thousands of people. Communist guerrillas in northern Vietnam, calling themselves the Viet Minh, began to attack isolated Japanese positions. To the west, the Thai government began to drift into the Allied camp. In Europe, where most of France had been liberated from German control, a new French government under General Charles de Gaulle pledged that it would assist Great Britain and the United States in their war against Japan. De Gaulle also promised to restore French rule in Indochina. Sensing a change in the political atmosphere, some French military officers and civil administrators in the colony began working surreptitiously for the Gaullist cause.

The Japanese response to these developments was swift and unexpected. On March 9, 1945, they staged a coup de force throughout Indochina, imprisoning French officials and military personnel and placing other French citizens under house arrest. Soon after, the Japanese asked the rulers of Vietnam, Laos, and Cambodia to declare that their kingdoms were independent. King Sihanouk complied on March 11. The French protectorate, considered by nearly everyone in Cambodia to be a fact of life, had been unceremoniously blown away.20


For the students in Kompong Cham, the rest of the year was marked by a relaxation of discipline, for their French teachers were interned and lessexperienced Khmer teachers like Kvan Siphan took their places. The boys were excited by news from Phnom Penh that Son Ngoc Thanh had returned from Japan in May and that the third anniversary of the monks’ demonstration had been celebrated by a parade of more than ten thousand people marching past the Royal Palace. By then, Thanh was acting as Cambodia’s foreign minister.

The closing months of 1945 were filled with possibilities for sweeping political change. Among the Vietnamese workforce on the rubber plantations of Kompong Cham and across the border in Vietnam, the Viet Minh recruited followers, distributed arms, and conducted propaganda sessions. There is no evidence that Saloth Sar paid much attention to these developments, but like other students at the college he would certainly have been aware of them.

In August, just before Japan’s surrender, Son Ngoc Thanh became Cambodia’s prime minister. For two months he struggled to keep the kingdom independent. In September French military units filtered back into Cambodia, liberated the officials interned in March, and gradually reasserted their control. In October they arrested Thanh, whom they accused of being a traitor. He was tried in Saigon in 1946 and then exiled to France. Faced with widespread violence in Cochinchina and fearful of similar trouble in Cambodia, the French expressed a willingness to deal with the Cambodians face-to-face  rather than merely reestablishing the protectorate. After negotiating with Prince Monireth, who had replaced Son Ngoc Thanh, they proposed in early 1946 to grant Cambodia a constitution and to allow political parties to be formed. King Sihanouk, who had enjoyed independence while it lasted, went along with their suggestions.




Back in Phnom Penh 

We know nothing of Saloth Sar’s activities in 1946. He seems to have left the College Sihanouk in 1947, because the following year he was enrolled as a carpentry student at the Ecole Technique at Russey Keo, a northern suburb of Phnom Penh. Several of his fellow students from Kompong Cham, including Hou Youn, Hu Nim, and Khieu Samphan, had gone to the more prestigious Lycée Sisowath. It is unclear whether Saloth Sar genuinely wanted to have a technical education or if, as he admitted in 1978, he had failed to pass the examinations that would have allowed him to pursue a baccalaureate. We know that he took the examinations in August 1948, so the latter explanation seems more likely.21


Saloth Sar’s stint at the Ecole Technique placed him in contact with lessprivileged young people, many of whom were alienated from the French and from the country’s traditional elite. As he dirtied his hands, stepping down from his French education and his palace connections, he was still part of a privileged minority. By 1947 only a few thousand other Cambodians had progressed as far as he had in education. In 1948 he was among seventyseven students in the protectorate who took entrance examinations for the lycée system. A year later he was among the first hundred men and women sent to France with government scholarships. His conversion to political activism and socialist ideals occurred against this privileged background and before he had any experience working for a living.

Many of Saloth Sar’s contemporaries followed the same path he did, but most of them earned at least one diploma, came from a less-cosseted milieu, and made more of an impression on people than Saloth Sar did. No one I met in the course of my research who knew Saloth Sar before 1952 admitted picking him as a potential leader or professional success. Here again, we encounter the question of Sar’s personality. Was he deliberately effacing himself, was he genuinely mediocre, or was he indifferent to making a strong impression?

His classmates at the Ecole Technique were hardly peasants, but they came from lower strata in Cambodian society than did the students in Kompong Cham or at the Ecole Miche. One of them, Sok Knol, was the son of a minor official who later became prominent in the Communist movement before being purged in 1978. With classmates like this, Sar’s polite, easygoing manner would not have caused offense, and he may well have found their interests  less intimidating than those of his academically gifted friends in Kompong Cham. Unfortunately no anecdotes of his time at the Ecole Technique have surfaced, and even the dates of his enrollment are uncertain, although Loth Suong and Chea Samy stated on several occasions that Sar went there immediately after his time in Kompong Cham.

An important occurrence in these years was Saloth Sar’s friendship with Ieng Sary, a student at the Lycée Sisowath. After befriending each other in 1947, Sar received a government scholarship in 1949 and Sary received one in 1951. The two spent time together in Paris, where they became members of the French Communist party. They married sisters, and after Sary returned to Cambodia in 1957 they were Communist militants in Phnom Penh. In 1963 they left the capital together for the maquis. With a handful of close associates, they guided the Cambodian revolution and the affairs of the Communist party of Kampuchea while it was in power.

Ieng Sary was born and raised among the Cambodian minority of Cochinchina. His father, Kim Ream, was a prosperous landowner. When Ream died, Sary, still a young boy, was sent to live with relatives in the Cambodian province of Prey Veng. He was given the name Ieng Sary, which sounded more Khmer than his real name, Kim Trang. He also had his birth date altered to fall within the age limits set by the French for enrollment in primary school. By 1942 or 1943, having done exceptionally well as a student, he went to Phnom Penh for further education. In 1945 Sary was awarded a scholarship at the Lycée Sisowath. He soon attracted attention for his intellectual powers and his interest in political action. In the turbulence of 1945-1946, before Saloth Sar met him, Sary had become a political animal. Like many of Sar’s close associates over the years, he made a stronger impression on people than Saloth Sar did. He was the more forthcoming of the two and made friends more easily. Being more abrasive than Sar, he also made more enemies.22





Working for the Democrats 

Under the agreement reached between Monireth and the French in early 1946, several political parties soon appeared on the Cambodian scene. Only the Democratic party (Kanakpak procheaneathipdei) offered an innovative program and had roots in the nationalist traditions of Nagara Vatta and the monks’ demonstration. Those who supported the party included monks and former monks, teachers, young civil servants, and most graduates of and senior students at the Lycée Sisowath (for example, Ieng Sary). The party was the first political organization in Cambodia to be oriented toward the future and away from the status quo. Other more-conservative parties, one secretly financed by the French, also came into being at this time. They attracted much less support.

The leader of the Democrats, Prince Sisowath Yuthevong, had just returned home after fifteen years in France. He impressed and inspired nearly everyone who met him. He came equipped with doctorates in mathematics and astronomy and with connections to the French Socialist party. Furthermore, his long absence from Cambodia and his estrangement from palace intrigue meant that he was not entangled like so many of his royal cousins in nets of patronage, protocol, and obligation. To the timidity and stagnation of Cambodian politics in 1946, Yuthevong brought new insights and hope.23 The first test of the Democrats’ popularity came in September 1946, when the party fielded candidates for a consultative assembly that was to approve the constitution being drafted. The Democrats won fifty of the sixty-seven seats; the French-sponsored Liberals gained fourteen; the remaining three were won by independents.

Prince Yuthevong and his colleagues redrafted the somewhat royalist text of the constitution until it resembled the French constitution, which granted more power to an elected National Assembly than to the largely ceremonial chief of state. Although Yuthevong died suddenly in July 1947, the Democrats won the elections to the National Assembly held later in the year, capturing fifty-four seats out of a total of ninety. According to Keng Vannsak, who knew Saloth Sar and Ieng Sary in Paris in the early 1950s, the two young men worked for the Democratic party in this campaign.24


Between the elections and his departure for France on a scholarship in August 1949, Saloth Sar attended the Ecole Technique and sat for a lycée entrance examination, which he probably failed, in August 1948. This period was one of increasing turbulence on the Cambodian political scene. From 1947 to 1949 Sihanouk and the French became increasingly disenchanted with the Democrats. They suspected, correctly, that the party wanted to govern Cambodia without their supervision or advice. In 1947, before the assembly elections, the French jailed several members of the consultative assembly on trumped-up charges. The men were held for several months and some of them were tortured; they were never brought to trial and eventually were released. In 1948, following scandals involving members of the assembly, Sihanouk dissolved the body and began governing by decree, taking advice from party dissidents and members of parties that had failed to win any seats in 1947.

In the meantime, armed resistance to the French had broken out in the countryside. Some rebel bands were funded by the Thai and called themselves Khmer Issarak (“Liberated Khmers”); others were made up of former bandits and fugitives from the French police. In the areas bordering Vietnam, resistance was coordinated by the Indochina Communist party, which was dominated by the Vietnamese. Although the party had ostensibly been abolished in 1946 as part of a united front strategy to oppose the French, it had remained secretly in existence. As fighting intensified in Indochina, the party  sought to enroll members from Laos and Cambodia as well as from Vietnam. Two of its most prominent Cambodian members, who joined the party during World War II, were former monks who took the revolutionary names of Son Ngoc Minh (Achar Mean) and Tou Samouth. Both men had been raised in southern Vietnam and were fluent in Vietnamese. By 1949 Tou Samouth was already playing a major role in the resistance, and he became Saloth Sar’s patron when Sar was a Communist militant in the 1950s. For the time being, however, the Democrats rather than the Indochina Communist party, and politics rather than armed struggle, attracted the loyalties of the educated Cambodian elite, including Saloth Sar.25
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